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Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act prohibits fraudulent, 
deceptive, and manipulative acts in connection with a 
tender offer. Mergers are often implemented through tender 
offers, which are accompanied by offering statements and 
recommendations from the target corporation. 

On January 4, 2019, the Supreme Court granted certiorari 
in Varjabedian v. Emulex Corp., to review the Ninth 
Circuit’s holding that to state a claim under Section 14(e), 
shareholders need allege only that a misrepresentation or 
omission in connection with a tender offer was negligent. 
This case is of critical importance to the future of securities 
litigation relating to mergers. The Court could significantly 
expand Section 14(e) claims by siding with the Ninth 
Circuit (and against five other circuit courts) by holding 
that Section 14(e) requires only allegations of negligence, 
rather than proof of scienter (i.e., the intent to defraud). 
Alternatively, the Court might decide that no private right of 
action exists under Section 14(e) at all, and so significantly 
curtail merger-related securities litigation. 

In Emulex, a shareholder of Emulex Corp. brought a Section 
14(e) class action against the company following the 
merger of Emulex and Avago Technologies Wireless Man-
ufacturing, Inc., two companies that sold storage adapters, 
network interface cards, and related products. Pursuant 
to the terms of a merger agreement, the Avago merger 
sub had initiated a tender offer for Emulex’s outstanding 
stock to obtain control of Emulex. In connection with this 
tender offer, Emulex issued a statement to shareholders 
recommending that they accept the offer. This statement 
included a summary of a non-public analysis Emulex had 
commissioned from Goldman Sachs of the fairness of 
the proposed merger. Goldman Sachs’s original fairness 
analysis included a comparison of the premium sharehold-
ers would receive in the tender offer and the premium of 
previous offers for similarly situated companies, and con-
cluded that the premium, while below average, was within 
the normal range. Emulex omitted this analysis of premi-
ums from its summary of Goldman Sachs’s fairness anal-
ysis. The complaint alleged that this omission rendered 
Emulex’s tender offer statement misleading, in violation of 
Section 14(e). The district court dismissed the complaint 
on the ground that it failed adequately to allege scienter.

The Ninth Circuit reversed the district court’s decision and 
held that only negligence, rather than scienter, need be 

By Austin P. Van

COURTS TACKLE MERGER PROXY RULES

pleaded to state a claim under Section 14(e). The Court 
noted that Section 14(e) contains two clauses, each 
prohibiting different conduct:  the first clause prohib-
its “mak[ing] any untrue statement of material fact” and 
misleading omissions, while the second clause prohibits 
“engag[ing] in any fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative 
acts or practices, in connection with any tender offer.  ...”  
Each clause proscribes different conduct, as otherwise 
one clause would be superfluous. The Court then noted 
that the Supreme Court, in Aaron v. SEC, in interpreting 
the wording of Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act—
which is nearly identical to the wording in the first clause of 
Section 14(e) —had held that that 
language did not require a show-
ing of scienter. 
 
The Ninth Circuit also addressed 
the Supreme Court’s holding, in 
Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, that 
claims under Section 10(b) of the 
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 must 
allege scienter. The Court in Ernst 
expressly held that language near-
ly identical to that in the first clause 
of Section 14(e) could be read as 
proscribing negligent conduct, not 
merely intentional conduct. Never-
theless, the Ernst Court concluded 
that SEC Rule 10b-5 requires a 
showing of scienter because the 
enabling statute, Section 10(b) of 
the Exchange Act, permits the SEC 
to regulate only “manipulative or deceptive device[s],” and 
manipulation and deception are intentional acts. 15 U.S.C. 
§ 78j(b). As the SEC cannot proscribe a broader range of 
conduct than permitted by the enabling statute, the Court 
interpreted Rule 10b-5 to prohibit only intentional conduct.

In concluding that Section 14(e) requires only negligent 
conduct, the Ninth Circuit broke with the Second, Third, 
Fifth, Sixth, and Eleventh Circuits, all of which previously 
had held that Section 14(e) required scienter. The Ninth 
Circuit disagreed with the analysis of those other circuits 
and held that they had failed to apply the holdings in 
Aaron and Ernst. The other circuits each had interpreted 
the language of Section 14(e) with reference to Rule 10b-5 
and had concluded that because language in the latter had 
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In Jaroslawicz v. M&T Bank Corporation, the Third Circuit 
Court of Appeals recently held that allegations that de- 
fendants failed to disclose M&T Bank Corporation’s (“M&T”) 
compliance violations in a proxy statement issued in 
connection with M&T’s merger with Hudson City Bancorp 
(“Hudson”) could be a violation of Section 14(a) of the 
Exchange Act, which prohibits proxy fraud. The Court 
explained that the omission of information from a proxy 
statement violates Section 14(a) and the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 14a-9 if, among 
other reasons, “the SEC regulations specifically require 
disclosure of the omitted information.” The parties there-
fore agreed that Section 14(a) required the Joint Proxy 
to comply with Item 503(c) of SEC Regulation S-K. Item 
503(c), in turn, requires issuers to “provide under the 
caption ‘Risk Factors’ a discussion of the most significant 
factors that make the offering speculative or risky.”
 
The parties disagreed, however, over whether M&T’s 
alleged past consumer violations posed a risk to reg-
ulatory approval of the merger and whether M&T had 
adequately disclosed the risk of M&T’s Bank Secrecy 
Act/Anti-Money Laundering (“BSA/AML”) deficiencies. 

been found to require scienter, the former should as well. 
Yet these cases, the Ninth Circuit found, failed to recog-
nize that the language in Rule 10b-5 required scienter only 
because the enabling statute limited scope of the Rule to 
intentional conduct. Circuit cases decided after Aaron and 
Ernst failed to recognize that the Supreme Court twice had 
interpreted language nearly identical to that in Section 
14(e) to encompass negligent conduct.

Following the Delaware Court of Chancery’s 2016 ruling 
in Trulia that required greater scrutiny of cases alleging 
insufficient disclosures relating to a merger, shareholders 
increasingly have chosen to bring their merger-related 
claims in federal rather than state court. If the Supreme 
Court adopts the Ninth Circuit’s reasoning in Emulex and 
permits Section 14(e) cases to proceed based merely on 
allegations of negligence, federal merger-related securities 
litigation likely will increase even more significantly. How-
ever, the Court, with its additional conservative members, 
may be loath to endorse such a result and may simply 
adopt the holdings of the five circuits that have found that 
Section 14(e) requires scienter. However, the Court may 
take this case as an opportunity to address whether there 
is an implied private cause of action under Section 14(e) 
at all. If the Court finds that no implied private cause of 
action exists under Section 14(e), the holding may result in 
a significant curtailment of merger-related securities litiga-
tion. Moreover, this holding may encourage companies to 
use the tender offer more often for business combinations 
(in place of traditional mergers with board approval) so as 
to avoid private litigation, and so may curtail merger-relat-
ed litigation even further.

By Michael Grunfeld

SECTION 14(A)
AND INADEQUATE RISK
DISCLOSURES

The Third Circuit concluded that the complaint plausibly 
alleged that M&T’s consumer violations “made the upcom-
ing merger vulnerable to regulatory delay” and that the 
defendants did not adequately disclose the risk of M&T’s 
BSA/AML compliance violations. The Court’s decision thus 
emphasizes the breadth of factors that must be disclosed 
under Item 503(c) and the highly specific level at which 
defendants must disclose that information or be subject to 
liability under the federal securities laws.  

According to the District Court, Item 503(c) did not require 
the defendants to disclose M&T’s consumer violations be-
cause the complaint did not adequately allege that those 
past violations posed a significant risk to the merger at the 
time the Joint Proxy was issued. In addition, the District 
Court held that M&T adequately disclosed the risk that its 
BSA/AML deficiencies posed to the merger by describing 
the general risk of regulatory oversight related to BSA/AML 
compliance issues. The Third Circuit disagreed with both 
of these conclusions.

First, the Third Circuit held that Item 503(c) required 
disclosure of M&T’s consumer rights violations because 
“[d]espite the fact that M&T had ceased [those viola-
tions], it is plausible that the allegedly high volume of 
past violations made the upcoming merger vulnerable to 
regulatory delay.” The Court then assessed whether the 
proxy materials adequately disclosed this risk factor as 
required by Item 503(c). As the Third Circuit explained, 
“generic disclosures which could apply across an industry 
are insufficient. Rather, adequate disclosures are company- 
specific. They include facts particular to a company, 
such as its financial status, its products, any ongoing 
investigations, and its relationships with other entities.” 
The Court concluded that the plaintiffs plausibly alleged 
that the Joint Proxy’s disclosures concerning consumer 
violations, which “discussed the regulatory framework 
facing consumer banks” in general—but did not mention 
M&T’s fraudulent practices or the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau’s investigation into them—“were too 
generic to be adequate.” 

As for M&T’s BSA/AML deficiencies, the Court held that 
“it is plausible that the[] boilerplate disclosures were too 
generic to communicate anything meaningful about this 
specific risk to the merger.” For example, although the 
Joint Proxy mentioned AML compliance requirements 
at a general level, it did not describe M&T’s “Know Your 
Customer” program, the bank’s alleged deficiencies, or 
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the Federal Reserve Board’s investigation into them. Fur-
thermore, because M&T’s supplemental disclosure of the 
Federal Reserve Board’s identification of these deficien-
cies, which M&T noted would likely delay the merger, was 
made, at most, six days before the shareholder vote on the 
merger, the adequacy of these supplemental disclosures 
“raise[d] a fact issue, which preclude[d] dismissal of the 
BSA/AML allegations.” 

The Court therefore concluded that the complaint ad-
equately alleged a violation of Item 503(c)—and, by ex-
tension, Section 14(a)—and vacated the District Court’s 
dismissal of the mandatory-disclosure claims relating 
to M&T’s consumer rights violations and its BSA/AML 
deficiencies. 

The Court, however, rejected claims that the defendants 
had failed to disclose information that might have con-
tradicted their expressed opinions of confidence that the 
merger would be approved expeditiously. Plaintiffs alleged 
that defendants violated their duty to disclose facts that 
allegedly would have shown that they had little or no ba-

sis for these opinions. In its decision in Omnicare, Inc. v. 
Laborers District Council Construction Industry Pension 
Fund, the Supreme Court held that defendants have a 
duty to disclose information that forms the basis for their 
opinions when the omission of that information makes the 
opinion statements at issue misleading to a reasonable 
person. The Court here determined that the complaint did 
not allege specific undisclosed facts about the defendants’ 
knowledge of, or investigation into, M&T’s compliance 
violations that would have belied their stated opinion that 
the merger should obtain regulatory approvals in a timely 
manner. 

Although this case dealt specifically with a claim brought 
under Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, the Court ap-
plied the same standard that other circuits have applied 
to determine what disclosures Item 503(c) requires under 
the Securities Act. While these separate statutory provi-
sions might cover different securities filings or participants, 
the Court explained that those distinctions are immaterial 
for purposes of determining the content of the disclosures 
required by Item 503(c). The Third Circuit’s decision 
in M&T helpfully sets out the standard for the duty to dis-
close risk factors under Item 503(c), the violation of which 
gives rise to liability in connection with covered securities 
filings, including under Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act 
and Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act. In particular, 

In an era where many states and localities are trying 
to plug their budget deficits by imposing draconian  
“civil forfeitures” on alleged criminals, the Supreme 
Court’s unanimous decision in February in Tims v. 
Indiana is a decisive victory against some of the most 
egregious abuses stemming from this practice. In this 

THE SUPREME COURT’S
UNANIMOUS DECISION
IN TIMS V. INDIANA
REPRESENTS A DECISIVE
VICTORY FOR CRIMINAL
JUSTICE REFORM
By Veronica V. Montenegro

“THE COURT’S DECISION 
THUS EMPHASIZES

THE BREADTH
OF FACTORS THAT

MUST BE DISCLOSED
UNDER ITEM 503(C)”

the Court made clear the SEC’s concern that “inadequate 
disclosure—particularly in the form of disclosing only 
generic risk factors—presents a persistent problem.” Defen-
dants must therefore disclose all of the most significant risk 
factors in a company-specific way, rather than relying 
on the common—but insufficient—practice of providing 
generic warnings that could apply to any company or an 
industry as a whole.

Continued on page 4

In another recent victory for investors in a dispute 
concerning a merger proxy statement, a panel 
of the Eighth Circuit recently revived investors’ 
claims involving a merger of the Transgenomic 
corporation, a biotechnology company, with 
Precipio Inc. There the proxy statement seeking 
approval of the merger allegedly failed to include 
projections about net income and loss. Defen-
dants had persuaded the district court to dismiss 
the action on the ground that other financial pro-
jections were included, and that the investors had 
not alleged that any of that information was false. 
The Eighth Circuit did not agree. Projections 
about net income and loss aren’t immaterial, the 
judges said in their opinion. “This court has con-
sidered net income to be among the three most 
valuable figures in determining the fairness of an 
acquisition under the Clayton Act,” the panel said. 
The district court judge had ruled that “to suc-
cessfully state a claim for relief, there must be 
allegations that, if true, would call into question 
the accuracy of the information disclosed.” The 
Eighth Circuit called this the “wrong inquiry,” 
determining that disclosing some information, 
even accurate information, can be misleading 
if other important information about the same 
subject is withheld. The Eighth Circuit held that 
net income and loss figures are in fact significant, 
because such data would have “significantly altered 
the total mix of information made available.” 

EDITOR’S NOTE:



case, defendant Tims argued that the state of Indiana 
imposed an excessive fine on him when it seized his sports 
utility vehicle, valued at $42,000, after he was arrested for 
selling heroin. The value of this SUV was more than four 
times the maximum $10,000 monetary fine assessable 
against Tims for his drug conviction. The Supreme Court, in 
an opinion authored by Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg, 
overturned the forfeiture and, in the process, held that 
the Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause applies 
to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment’s due 
process clause, because it is a safeguard “fundamental 
to our scheme of ordered liberty” with “deep roots in our 
history and tradition.”

Tims pleaded guilty in Indiana Court to selling heroin to 
undercover officers. In addition to sentencing Tims to a 
year of house arrest, five years’ probation, and assessing 
reasonable fines and fees, Indiana sought civil forfeiture of 
a $42,000 SUV Tims had purchased with the proceeds of 
an insurance policy he received when his father died. The 
trial court denied Indiana’s request, noting that the vehi-
cle had been recently purchased (and was therefore not 
likely part of the proceeds of his crime) and was valued at 
more than four times the maximum fine. Therefore, the trial 
court determined that the seizure of the SUV would be 

grossly disproportionate to Tims’ crime and unconstitutional 
under the Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause. 
The Court of Appeals affirmed, but the Indiana Supreme 
Court reversed, holding that the Excessive Fines Clause 
did not apply to state action. Tims appealed. 

As Justice Ginsburg remarked, the Supreme Court has 
held, with only a handful of exceptions, that the Four-
teenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause “incorporates” 
many of the protections in the Bill of Rights, thus rendering 
them applicable to the states. A Bill of Rights protection is 
incorporated if it is “fundamental to our scheme of or-
dered liberty.” In holding that the Excessive Fines Clause 
is “fundamental to our scheme of ordered liberty,” Justice 
Ginsburg traced the adoption of the prohibition against 
excessive fines back to the Magna Carta, the Virginia 
Declaration of Rights, and similar colonial-era provisions. 
Justice Ginsburg also noted that by the time the Fourteenth 
Amendment was ratified, 35 of the 37 states expressly 
prohibited excessive fines in order to guard against such 
fines being used to subjugate the newly freed slaves “and 
maintain the prewar racial hierarchy.” Justice Ginsburg 
further noted that historically, excessive fines were used to 
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Attorney Veronica V. Motenegro

“JUSTICE GINSBURG
TRACED THE ADOPTION

OF THE PROHIBITION 
AGAINST EXCESSIVE

FINES BACK TO
THE MAGNA CARTA ...”

Continued from page 3

undermine other constitutional liberties. 

Indiana argued that the Clause, as applied to in rem 
forfeitures (i.e. seizure of specific property), is neither 
“fundamental” nor “deeply rooted.” In Austin v. United 
States, the Court held that civil in rem forfeitures fall within 
the Excessive Fines Clause protection when they are at 
least partially punitive. While Austin arose in the federal 
context, the Court noted that when a Bill of Rights protec-
tion is incorporated, the protection applies identically to the 
federal government and the states.  

The Court held that the proper question in determining 
whether the Fourteenth Amendment incorporates a pro-
tection contained in the Bill of Rights is whether the right 
guaranteed – rather than each and every particular ap- 
plication of that right – is fundamental or deeply rooted. 
Thus, regardless of whether application of the Excessive 
Fines Clause to civil in rem forfeitures is itself fundamen-
tal or deeply rooted, the conclusion that the Clause is in-
corporated remains unchanged. The Court remanded the 
case to the Indiana Supreme Court for determination of 
whether the seizure of Tims’ SUV was excessive under this 
standard. 

The Tims decision was cheered by advocates of criminal 
justice reform who have argued that civil asset forfeiture 
laws create an incentive for abuse. In many places, such 
laws facilitate the seizing of assets from individuals who 
have not been convicted of or even charged with a crime, 
and require only a tenuous connection between the crime 
and the seized asset. For example, in January 2019 an 
investigation conducted by The Greenville News and 
Anderson Independent Mail uncovered that the South 
Carolina police seized more than $17 million over a three-
year period through civil asset forfeiture. The investigation 
concluded that a review of the cases demonstrates that 
the “police are systematically seizing cash and proper-
ty—many times from people who aren’t guilty of a crime— 
netting millions of dollars each year” and that “nearly a 
fifth of the 4,000 people who had their property seized by 
South Carolina police between 2014 and 2016 were never 
arrested nor even charged with a related crime.” 

Additionally, critics of civil asset forfeiture laws contend 
that they are disproportionally harmful to lower-income 
communities and communities of color. For example, an 
investigation conducted by The Washington Post con-
cluded that “of the 400 court cases examined where 
people challenged seizures and received money back, 
the majority were Black, Hispanic or another minority.” 
Another investigation found that Philadelphia cash for- 
feitures disproportionally target African-Americans who, 
while making up 44% of the population, are subject to an 
astounding 71% of forfeitures without conviction.

Critics of the Tims decision argue that the ruling will create 
financial challenges to police departments that have 
come to rely on civil forfeitures as a way to finance police 
operations. After Tims, they will have to look elsewhere for 
their funds.
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Each year around this time, corporate-backed lobbyists 
issue reports in order to reinvigorate their endless cru-
sade against investor protections. Most recently, the U.S. 
Chamber of Commerce’s Institute for Legal Reform 
published a paper urging Congress to consider further 
limits on securities litigation, including an unprecedented 
damages cap that would severely curtail the ability of insti-
tutional investors to recover losses. Titled “Containing the 
Contagion,” the paper places ideology above fact, ignoring 
the actual statistics regarding securities litigation and its 
beneficial impact on holding perpetrators of fraud re- 
sponsible to their victims.

Even a cursory review of the Institute’s arguments shows 
their fallacy. First, the Institute claims securities fraud cas-
es have “exploded.” The data cited tells a different story. 
Last year, 221 non-M&A securities fraud class actions 
were filed, only slightly more than 214 in the prior year, and 
somewhat above an average of 182 cases over the past 
20 years. Higher, yes, but well below the prior high of 242. 

More importantly, the Institute does not address the rise 
in corporate fraud driving the uptick in securities fraud lit-
igation. Each month brings new revelations of corporate 
misconduct, suggesting that Congress needs to increase, 
not cut, investor remedies. From LIBOR-rigging to 
Petrobras to the Billion Dollar Whale to Theranos, fraud 
has become more frequent and brazen in recent years. 
Startups and life sciences companies have hit investors 
especially hard. Embracing Silicon Valley’s “fake it until 
you make it” culture, many of these companies show little 
hesitation to tell investors whatever is necessary to raise 
capital, whether truthful or not. 

While the Institute would prefer to blame lawyers rather 
than fraud perpetrators for the uptick in filings, facts do not 
support that conclusion. Dismissal rates for securities fraud 
cases have dropped substantially since 2015, reflecting 
the strong factual underpinning for recent cases. Further, 
securities fraud cases are filed in only a tiny minority of 
statistically significant stock drops, not indiscriminately. 
Once filed, courts apply one of the highest pleading 
standards under federal law, ensuring that only meritorious 
cases proceed. Courts also assess whether each plead-
ing is frivolous, and must impose sanctions for those that 
are. The fact that courts have assessed thousands of 
complaints but only imposed a handful of sanctions 
demonstrates that current standards are working.

The Institute’s conclusions about M&A filings also defy 
logic. The paper cites an increase in federal M&A fil-
ings, the result of an ongoing shift in M&A lawsuits from 
Delaware state court to federal court. But, as Cornerstone 
Research confirmed in its most recent tally, the overall rate 

of M&A lawsuits has declined in recent years, slipping 
11% below the average annual rate.  

The Institute next takes aim at what it calls “event- 
driven” litigation—a securities fraud lawsuit brought after 
an issuer has misrepresented a risk that comes to fruition. 
For example, if a medical device company misrepresented 
known safety defects, and patients later died, triggering 
investor losses, the Institute would call ensuing share-
holder litigation “event-driven.”  Any concerns about such 
litigation are overblown. Shareholders will only be able to 
sustain securities cases, however labeled, if they 
have a factual basis to properly allege scienter, 
falsity and loss causation. As a result, courts will 
quickly weed out any lawsuits based only on an 
unforeseen triggering event. 

None of the Institute’s arguments supports the 
most drastic remedy it urges Congress to consider: 
a damages cap that would deprive institutional in-
vestors of compensation for injuries suffered as a 
result of securities fraud. Specifically, the Institute 
proposes that the damages payable by securities 
fraudsters be capped at an arbitrary, unspecified 
amount for all cases other than those arising from 
initial public offerings, and that small investors be 
prioritized in the allocation of those damages. To 
justify this proposal, the paper repeats the dis-
credited claim that securities fraud litigation is just 
“pocket shifting” for large, diversified investors, 
supposing that the investors gain on securities litigation 
settlements but also lose when other companies in which 
they invest have to pay out settlements. No academic 
research has shown this to be the case. In fact, a recent 
study found a statistically significant rise in share prices 
when a corporate securities fraud defendant announces a 
settlement. As a result, institutional investors benefit both 
from receiving settlement proceeds, and from the boost 
in valuation when portfolio companies come clean with 
investors. 

While unpopular among some special interests, private 
securities litigation has returned tens of billions of dollars 
to defrauded investors. Even after fees and expenses, pri-
vate securities fraud litigation remains the most important 
source of recovery for defrauded investors, far outpacing 
the SEC. The Institute’s latest anti-investor positions may 
satisfy its backers, but they do not justify any rollback of 
investor protections. 

THE INSTITUTE FOR LEGAL REFORM’S
LATEST ATTACK ON SHAREHOLDERS

talk

By Joshua B. Silverman



ROXANNA TALAIE will attend the Georgia Association of Public Pension Trustees’ (GAPPT) Annual Trustee 
School in Athens, Georgia from March 18 – 20.
On March 29, JEREMY LIEBERMAN will chair the panel, Enforcement of Consumer Rights by Associations 
and Regulators, at the 2019 Class Action Conference: Mass Disputes and ADR, hosted by the Faculty of Law 
at the University of Haifa in Israel. On May 20, JEREMY will speak on Trends in U.S. Securities Litigation at the 
National Conference on Public Employee Retirement Systems (NCPERS) Annual Conference in Austin, Texas. 
JENNIFER PAFITI and ROXANNA  will also attend the NCPERS conference.
On March 20, MARC GROSS will address a seminar on securities enforcement at Georgetown University Law 
Center in Washington, DC. MARC will attend the Institute for Law & Economic Policy’s (ILEP) Symposium on 
Corporate Accountability from April 11 - 13, 2019, at which he will officially be named the President of ILEP. 
On April 12, GUSTAVO BRUCKNER will moderate a panel on Delaware actions at the ILEP Symposium. On May 6, 
MARC will be a panelist on the topic of Litigation and Finance at the Class Action Money & Ethics Conference 
at New York City’s Harmonie Club.
JENNIFER and ROXANNA will attend the Texas Association of Public Employee Retirement Systems  
TEXPERS) Annual Conference in Austin, Texas on April 8 and 9. JENNIFER will also attend the Institutional  
Investors’ Public Funds Roundtable 2019 from April 24 – 27 in Los Angeles. ROXANNA will attend the 
State Association of County Retirement Systems’ (SACRS) Spring Conference in Lake Tahoe, California from 
May 7 – 10.
On April 15, STANLEY GROSSMAN will be the featured guest of “Conversations with Bob Mundheim” at 
the University of Arizona College of Law in Tucson.

NOTABLE
DATES 

ON THE 
POMERANTZ 

HORIZON

Jeremy  A. Lieberman Marc I. Gross Stanley M. Grossman Roxanna Talaie Gustavo F. BrucknerJennifer Pafiti
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OUR EXPERTISE IS RECOGNIZED
On February 28, 2019 at the Essex House in New York, Benchmark Litigation hosted its annual 
U.S. awards recognizing the country’s most distinguished litigators and their firms for their 
exceptional achievements over the past twelve months. 

Pomerantz Managing Partner Jeremy Lieberman was honored with the Plaintiff Attorney of the 
Year Award. Pomeranz also won a National Impact Case Award for its litigation of In re Petrobras 
Sec. Litig., which Jeremy led. Pomerantz, as sole Lead Counsel, achieved a historic $3 billion 
settlement on behalf of defrauded Petrobras investors, as well as ground-breaking legal decisions, 
in this high-profile case.

Jeremy has also been recognized as a 2019 Benchmark Litigation Star. In 2018, he was 
honored as a Titan of the Plaintiffs Bar by Law360, and the Pomerantz team that Jeremy heads 
was recognized as a Law360 Securities Practice Group of the Year. Jeremy has been honored 
as a Super Lawyers® “Top-Rated Securities Litigation Attorney” in 2016, 2017, and 2018 – 
a recognition bestowed on no more than 5% of eligible attorneys in the New York Metro area. The 
Legal 500, in honoring Pomerantz as a Leading Firm for 2016 and 2017, stated that in New York, 
“Jeremy Lieberman is super impressive – a formidable adversary for any defense firm.”

Jennifer Pafiti, Pomerantz Partner and Head of Client Services, was recently named to Benchmark 
Litigation’s 40 & Under Hot List of the best young attorneys in the United States. 
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Pomerantz, through its proprietary PomTrack© system, monitors client portfolios to identify potential claims 
for securities fraud, and to identify and evaluate clients’ potential participation in class action settlements.

POMTRACK© CLASS ACTIONS UPDATE

  NEW CASES: Recently filed securities class action cases filed by various law firms are listed below. 
If you believe your fund is affected by any of these cases, contact Pomerantz for a consultation

CASE NAME TICKER CLASS PERIOD LEAD PLAINTIFF DEADLINE 
Avon Products, Inc.  AVP August 2, 2016 to August 2, 2017 April 15, 2019
Bristow Group, Inc. BRS February 8, 2018 to February 12, 2019 April 15, 2019
Molson Coors Brewing Company  TAP February 14, 2017 to February 12, 2019 April 16, 2019
Akorn, Inc. AKRX August 1, 2018 to January 8, 2019 April 22, 2019
Health Insurance Innovations, Inc.  HIIQ February 28, 2018 to November 27, 2018 April 22, 2019
Amarin Corporation plc  AMRN September 24, 2018 to November 9, 2018 April 23, 2019
Conagra Brands, Inc. CAG June 27, 2018 to December 19, 2018 April 23, 2019
Wuxi PharmaTech (Cayman), Inc. WX September 1, 2015 to December 10, 2015 April 23, 2019
Diplomat Pharmacy, Inc.  DPLO February 26, 2018 to February 21, 2019 April 25, 2019
Kraft Heinz Company  KHC May 4, 2017 to February 21, 2019 April 25, 2019
AVEO Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  AVEO August 4, 2016 to January 31, 2019 April 26, 2019
CVS Health Corporation CVS May 21, 2015 to February 20, 2019 April 26, 2019
Vanda Pharmaceuticals Inc.  VNDA November 4, 2015 to February 11, 2019 April 26, 2019
Stamps.com, Inc.  STMP May 3, 2017 to February 21, 2019 April 29, 2019
Syneos Health, Inc. SYNH May 10, 2017 to February 27, 2019 April 30, 2019
Weight Watchers International, Inc. WTW May 4, 2018 to February 26, 2019 May 3, 2019
CenturyLink, Inc. CTL May 10, 2018 to March 4, 2019 May 6, 2019
Inogen, Inc. INGN November 8, 2017 to February 26, 2019 May 6, 2019
Mattel, Inc. MAT February 7, 2019 to February 15, 2019 May 6, 2019
Spectrum Brands Legacy, Inc. SPB June 14, 2016 to April 25, 2018 May 6, 2019
Conduent, Inc. CNDT February 21, 2018 to November 6, 2018 May 7, 2019
Bridgepoint Education, Inc. BPI March 8, 2016 to March 7, 2019 May 10, 2019
U.S. Express Enterprises, Inc. USX June 1, 2018 to March 8, 2019 May 10, 2019
Corbus Pharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. CRBP November 14, 2016 to February 28, 2019 May 13, 2019
Corcept Therapeutics, Inc. CORT August 2, 2017 to February 5, 2019 May 13, 2019
NIO, Inc. NIO September 12, 2018 to March 5, 2019 May 13, 2019
The Parking REIT, Inc./MVP REIT I N/A August 11, 2017 to December 15, 2017 May 13, 2019
United Microelectronics Corporation UMC October 28, 2015 to November 1, 2018 May 13, 2019
Mobile TeleSystems Public Joint Stock MBT March 19, 2014 to March 7, 2019 March 20, 2019

  SETTLEMENTS: The following class action settlements were recently announced. 
If you purchased securities during the listed class period, you may be eligible to participate in the recovery.

CASE NAME      AMOUNT CLASS PERIOD  CLAIM FILING DEADLINE 
BHP Billiton Limited/BHP Billiton Plc $50,000,000  September 25, 2014 to November 30, 2015 April 2, 2019
Cobalt International Energy, Inc. (Sponsor Defendants) $146,850,000  March 1, 2011 to November 3, 2014 April 4, 2019
Investment Technology Group, Inc.  $18,000,000  February 28, 2011 to August 3, 2015 April 4, 2019
Aimsi Technologies, Inc.  (SEC Fair Fund) $1,245,114  July 1, 2004 to December 14, 2004 April 15, 2019
Cemtrex, Inc. $625,000  December 26, 2012 to March 6, 2017 April 15, 2019
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. $160,000,000  December 8, 2011 to April 20, 2012 April 15, 2019
Volkswagen AG  $48,000,000  November 19, 2010 to January 4, 2016 April 18, 2019
NantKwest, Inc. $12,000,000  July 25, 2015 to January 25, 2016 April 26, 2019
Alibaba Group Holding Limited  $75,000,000  September 18, 2014 to October 5, 2015 May 2, 2019
Rent-A-Center, Inc.  $11,000,000  February 2, 2015 to October 10, 2016 May 2, 2019
Marrone Bio Innovations, Inc.  (Ernst & Young) $775,000  August 1, 2015 to November 10, 2015 May 6, 2019
American HomePatient, Inc. $800,000  July 7, 2010 to October 12, 2010 May 11, 2019
SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. (Canada)  $85,638,600  November 6, 2009 to February 27, 2012 May 13, 2019
Heartware International, Inc. (2016)  $54,500,000  June 10, 2014 to January 11, 2016 May 14, 2019
Cyan, Inc.  $15,000,000  May 9, 2013 to November 4, 2013 May 24, 2019
Concordia International Corp. $9,250,000  January 6, 2016 to August 12, 2016 May 29, 2019
Orbital ATK, Inc.  $108,000,000  December 16, 2014 to August 9, 2016 May 30, 2019
Sierra Oncology, Inc. $7,200,000  July 15, 2015 to November 18, 2016 May 30, 2019
Endurance International Group Holdings, Inc. $18,650,000  October 25, 2013 to December 16, 2015 May 31, 2019
China Energy Savings Technology, Inc. (SEC Fair Fund) $5,688,915  July 1, 2004 to February 15, 2006 June 4, 2019
PHC, Inc. d/b/a Pioneer Behavioral Health $3,076,190  related to PHC/Acadia October 2011 merger June 6, 2019
Barclays PLC  $27,000,000  August 2, 2011 to June 25, 2014 June 7, 2019
Power Solutions International, Inc. $8,500,000  February 27, 2014 to February 2, 2017 June 13, 2019
Sprouts Farmers Market, Inc.  $9,500,000  March 5, 2015 to March 3, 2016 June 25, 2019
Alere Inc. $20,000,000  May 9, 2013 to October 3, 2017 June 26, 2019
Wells Fargo Bank, NA (Mortgage-Backed Securities) $43,000,000  June 18, 2014 to the present July 2, 2019
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles N.V. $14,750,000 November 3, 201 to July 26, 2016 July 10, 2019
K12, Inc. $3,500,000 October 10, 201 to October 27, 2015 July 13, 2019
Apollo Education Group, Inc. $7,400,000 November 13, 2013 to October 21, 2015 July 19, 2019
ImmunoCellular Therapeutics Ltd. $1,150,000 May 1, 2012 to May 30, 2014 July 24, 2019
Euro Interbank Offered Rate (Antitrust) (JPMorgan/Citi) $182,500,000  June 1, 200  to March 31, 2011 July 31, 2019
Citi Sponsored ADRs (Citibank) $14,750,000  January 1, 200  to September 4, 2018 August 12, 2019
The Bank of New York Mellon ADR FX $72,500,000  January 1, 199  to January 17, 2019 August 15, 2019
FX Instruments (Canada) (SocGen) (Antitrust) $1,385,838  January 1, 2003 to December 31, 2013 August 19, 2019
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